
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

ND Products, Inc., 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Telebrands Corporation (d/b/a BulbHead.com), 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No.  

Document Electronically Filed 

COMPLAINT  

ND Products, Inc. (“Plaintiff”), hereby files this Complaint for patent infringement and 

trademark infringement against Telebrands Corporation (doing business as BulbHead.com) 

(“Defendant”), on personal knowledge as to Plaintiff’s own activities and on information and 

belief as to the activities of others: 

Nature of the Action 

1. This is an action by PLAINTIFF against DEFENDANT arising out of 

DEFENDANT’s counterfeit sales of patent infringing and trademark infringing products. As a 

result of Defendant’s unauthorized sales, Defendant is harming consumers and Plaintiff’s business 

relationships, deceiving and misleading the consuming public, and violating Plaintiff’s rights in 

its proprietary intellectual property. 

The Parties 

2. Plaintiff is Virginia corporation with a principal place of business in Mclean, 

Virginia.  

3. PLAINTIFF is engaged in the business of manufacturing, distributing, and retailing 

specialized consumer products throughout the world, including within the District of New Jersey.  
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4. DEFENDANT is a New Jersey corporation with its headquarters located at 79 Two 

Bridges Road, Fairfield New Jersey 07004. 

Jurisdiction 

5. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, Titles 15 and 35 of the 

United States Code. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 

1, et seq., 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a)-(b), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

6. This Court has general personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is 

physically located, maintains offices, and conducts business within the State of New Jersey.  

7. Defendant is further subject to the Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to N.J. Court Rule 

4:4-4 because, inter alia, Defendant contracts with distributors and consumers to conduct business 

within the State of New Jersey. 

8. Defendant is further subject to the specific personal jurisdiction of this Court 

because Defendant has sufficient, minimum contacts with the State of New Jersey with respect to 

the subject matter of this action to satisfy Constitutional due process.  Defendant, inter alia, 

conducts business within this District, is a registered corporation in this District, and maintains a 

principal place of business in this District.  As a result of Defendant’s business activities directed 

to the State of New Jersey, Defendant could reasonably have anticipated being brought into court 

in this forum. 

9. This Court also has original subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s unfair 

competition claims, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1338(b) because they are joined with Plaintiff’s 

substantial and related trademark claims under 15 U.S.C. §1114. 

10. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, the Court has supplemental subject matter 

jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s remaining claims because they form part of the same case or 

controversy as Plaintiff’s trademark and unfair competition claims. 
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11. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 in that the Defendant 

resides within this district and is subject to personal jurisdiction in this District.  

Facts 

12. Plaintiff is the owner of U.S. Patent No. 10,813,792 (the “’792 Patent”), U.S. 

Design Patent No. D866,763 (the “D763 Patent”), and U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4455913 

for “Smart Swab” (the “913 Mark”).  The ‘792 Patent is attached as Exhibit A.  The D763 Patent 

is attached as Exhibit B.  The 913 Mark is attached as Exhibit C. 

13. The ‘792 Patent and D763 Patent cover Plaintiff’s Smart Swab® earwax removal 

product (the “Product”). 

14. Plaintiff sells the Products on the internet and through interstate commerce. 

Plaintiff markets its Product with the following: “This is the only US patented Safe Ear Wax 

Remover with original quality on the market.” 

15. Plaintiff has spent significant resources to develop, market, and protect each of its 

U.S. Patents and registered Trademark.  

16. Plaintiff sells the Product on its United States website (https://ndproducts.com/) 

(the “Website”), through select online retailers, such as Amazon 

(https://www.amazon.com/stores/Smart+Swab/page/34B5B772-A4C3-4065-8A58-

5BF17970F35B?ref_=ast_bln), and in traditional brick-and-mortar establishments.  

17. Plaintiff strives to ensure that consumers of its Product are receiving authentic 

Products from Plaintiff itself.  

18. For example, in ND Products, Inc. v. Does 1-359, 1:22-cv-00099 (N.D. Illinois) 

(“Counterfeiter Case 1”), Plaintiff, who was the named Plaintiff in Counterfeiter Case 1, sought 

and obtained a preliminary injunction, a temporary restraining order, and a permanent injunction 
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against illegal uses of the claimed invention of the ‘792 Patent.  Plaintiff also obtained default 

judgments of no invalidity, no unenforceability, and infringement by the offending parties. 

19. In ND Products, Inc. v. Does 1-127, 1:22-cv-03444 (N.D. Illinois) (“Counterfeiter 

Case 2”), Plaintiff, who was the named Plaintiff in Counterfeiter Case 2, sought and obtained a 

preliminary injunction and temporary restraining order against illegal uses of the claimed invention 

of the ‘792 Patent. 

20. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiff has become an industry leader in the market, 

and its Product is synonymous with revolutionary, patented, high-end earwax removal devices.  

21. At one point, October 22, 2015, Plaintiff and Defendant had entered into a 

marketing and license agreement (“Agreement”) that authorized Defendant to exploit its U.S. 

Design Patent No. D545,431 (the “D431 Patent”) as well as the ‘913 Mark. 

22. The Agreement was terminated on August 10, 2019 by way of an Addendum to 

Marketing and License Agreement (“Addendum”).  As part of that Addendum, the Defendant 

assigned and transferred back any IP rights it had been licensed by Plaintiff. 

23. According to the Addendum, Defendant was permitted to “sell Product in its 

inventory until all such inventory is sold off.”  

24. On August 5, 2021, Legal Counsel for Defendant stated the following in an email 

to Mr. Nami Khademhosseini, the owner of PLAINTIFF: 

We have confirmed that the inventory we have in stock is 11 units of Smart Swab and 

13,802 packs of replacement heads.  We do not intend to manufacture any more Smart 

Swab units or replacement heads and solely intend to sell through the remaining inventory 

we have left. 

Exhibit D. 
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25. In an August 3, 2023 email from Bob Barnett of Defendant to Plaintiff’s owner, 

Mr. Barnett stated, “[t]he last smart swab units I show us selling is February/March 21.  These 

went to big and mortar retailers.”  Exhibit E. 

26. On November 24, 2023, Plaintiff discovered the Product was being sold by a third 

party through Walmart and inquired by whom such unauthorized sales had been made. 

27. In a November 27, 2023 email, John Schneider, a Senior Paralegal, for Walmart, 

wrote: 

Please know that Walmart takes claims of intellectual property infringement seriously and 
strives to respect the intellectual property rights of others.  Note that pursuant to our 
agreement with the Suppliers, Walmart allows the Supplier the opportunity to resolve 
intellectual property claims directly with the claimant.  The Supplier’s contact information 
for the item identified in your claim is set forth below: 

Telebrands Corp. 

Contact: Bob Barnett 

Email: Bob@telebrands.com

Exhibit F. 

28. On November 24, 2023, Plaintiff purchased Defendant’s version of the Product 

through Walmart, which appears as shown below: 
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“Counterfeit Product”. 

29. Defendant’s Counterfeit Product that it sells through Walmart is made without 

license under any claim of the ‘792 Patent or the D763 Patent. 

30. Defendant’s Counterfeit Product misappropriates and fails to provide the registered 

status of Plaintiff’s 913 Mark for Smart Swab®.  For example, Defendant still promotes Plaintiff’s 

product as its own via its website: 
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http://www.telebrands.com/smart-swab/ (last visited August 5, 2024). 

31. Defendant falsely marked the Counterfeit Product as being covered by Plaintiff’s 

now-expired D411 Patent and nonexistent “other patents pending” in Defendant’s name. 

32. Upon information and belief, Defendant is aware that Plaintiff markets its Product 

as “the only US patented Safe Ear Wax Remover with original quality on the market.” 

33. Upon information and belief, Defendant makes, uses, imports, offers for sale, and 

sells the Counterfeit Product using Plaintiff’s 913 Mark and Plaintiff’s now-expired D411 Patent 

with the intent to deceive the public into believing the Counterfeit Product was made, used, 

imported, offered for sale, and sold under license from Plaintiff. 

34. Upon information and belief, Defendant makes, uses, imports, offers for sale, and 

sells the Counterfeit Product using Plaintiff’s 913 Mark and Plaintiff’s now-expired D411 Patent 

with the intent to deceive the public into believing the counterfeit Product is of the same original 

quality as that produced by Plaintiff. 

35. Defendant has sold its infringing Counterfeit Products through other 

establishments: 
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https://www.furniture-depots.com/product/telebrands-10817-12-smart-swab-ear-wax-remover-

blue-white/ (last visited August 5, 2024). 

36. As a result of Defendant’s unauthorized and unlicensed sales of Counterfeit 

Product, Defendant is harming consumers and Plaintiff’s business relationships, deceiving and 

misleading the consuming public, and violating Plaintiff’s rights in its proprietary intellectual 

property. 

37. These unauthorized sales and infringing activities are illegal and have harmed, and 

will continue to harm, Plaintiff if the Court does not grant the relief sought by way of this 

Complaint.  

38. Upon information and belief, Defendant may also sell the Counterfeit Product to 

other distributors and resellers, and/or directly to consumers through one or more forms of retail, 

wholesale, and electronic commerce platforms and networks.  
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39. As of the date of this filing, Defendant has not agreed to cease and desist from 

selling the Counterfeit Product and infringing upon Plaintiff’s rights in the ‘792 Patent, the D763 

Patent, and the 913 Mark. 

COUNT ONE 
(Infringement of the ‘792 Patent under 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(a), (b), and (c)) 

40. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the paragraphs above as though fully set 

forth herein.  

41. The ‘792 Patent was filed on June 12, 2015. 

42. The ‘792 Patent was duly and legally issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial 

No. 14/737,511.  

43. Claim 1 of the ‘792 Patent recites: 

An ear cleaning apparatus comprising: 

a spiral-shaped head; 

a locking mechanism coupled to the spiral-shaped head, the locking mechanism 

including a center protrusion and a pair of longitudinally extending locking tabs; 

and 

a handle including a receiving portion configured to receive the locking mechanism 

to releasably couple the spiral-shaped head to the handle, wherein the center 

protrusion includes a plurality of ribs. 

44. Defendant’s Counterfeit Product meets each and every limitation of Claim 1 of the 

‘792 Patent: 
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45. The spiral-shaped head of Defendant’s Counterfeit Product includes a soft material, 

which is a foam that is porous and also includes a plastic material making up the locking 

mechanism that is configured such that the spiral-shaped head is removable from the receiving 

portion via a pressure applied to one of the pair of locking tabs.   

46. The spiral-shaped head of Defendant’s Counterfeit Product also has a locking 

mechanism that is configured to be removably coupled and decoupled from the handle without 

touching the spiral-shaped head. 

47. The spiral-shaped head of Defendant’s Counterfeit Product and the locking 

mechanism are both disposable. 

48. The Defendant’s Counterfeit Product meets each and every limitation of Claims 1-

9 of the ‘792 Patent and infringes the same under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

49. Defendant has carried out the aforesaid acts with actual and constructive knowledge 

of the existence of the ‘792 Patent and have acted with willful blindness of the same. 

50. Defendant has actively induced infringement of the ‘792 Patent in this judicial 

district and elsewhere in the United States by manufacturing, marketing, offering for sale, and 

selling Product to distributors for resale to the public knowing that the distributors offer for sale 

and sale of the Product to the public, and the public’s use of the Product, constitute patent 

infringement, or have acted with willful blindness to such infringement of the ‘792 Patent despite 

knowledge of the same. 

51. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘792 Patent since the date of its issuance 

through the filing of the current lawsuit but continues the infringing activities despite such 

knowledge. 
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52. Upon information and belief, Defendant’s infringements of the ‘792 Patent have 

been in willful disregard of Plaintiff’s patent rights, making this an exceptional case, and entitling 

Plaintiff to enhanced damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, and to recovery of their attorney fees 

and costs incurred in prosecuting this action pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

53. The aforesaid infringing activity has caused damage to Plaintiff, including loss of 

profits from sales they would have made but for Defendant’s infringements.  Unless enjoined, the 

aforesaid infringing activity will continue, causing irreparable injury to Plaintiff for which there is 

no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT TWO 
(Infringement of the D763 Patent under 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(a), (b), and (c)) 

54. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the paragraphs above as though fully set 

forth herein.  

55. The D763 Patent was filed on June 12, 2015 as a continuation-in-part of U.S. Patent 

Application Serial No. 14/737,511 from which the ‘792 Patent issued.  

56. The D763 Patent recites: “The ornamental design for an ear cleaning apparatus, as 

shown and described.”  

57. The figures of the D763 Patent are reproduced below: 
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58. Defendant advertises its Counterfeit Product with the following designs: 
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http://www.telebrands.com/smart-swab/ (last viewed August 5, 2024). 

59. Defendant’s Counterfeit Product is so substantially similar to the ornamental design 

claimed by the D763 Patent that it is nearly identical in all respects.  Indeed, Defendant calls its 

Counterfeit Product by Plaintiff’s tradename, SMART SWAB®, except Defendant fails to 

recognize that its use of “SMART SWAB” is a registered trademark. 

60. Defendant infringes the D763 Patent literally and under the doctrine of equivalents 

because, inter alia, in the eye of an ordinary observer, giving such attention as a purchaser usually 

gives, the D763 Patent and the Counterfeit Product are each substantially the same. 
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61. The resemblance of the claim of D763 Patent in the Counterfeit Product is so 

substantially similar that it deceives the ordinary observer, inducing him/her to purchase one 

supposing it to be the other. 

62. The Defendant’s Counterfeit Product meets each and every limitation of the D763 

Patent Claim and infringes the same under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

63. Defendant has carried out the aforesaid acts with actual and constructive knowledge 

of the existence of the D763 Patent and has acted with willful blindness of the same. 

64. Defendant has actively induced infringement of the D763 Patent in this judicial 

district and elsewhere in the United States by manufacturing, marketing, offering for sale, and 

selling Counterfeit Product to distributors for resale to the public knowing that the distributors 

offer for sale and sale of the Product to the public, and the public’s use of the Product, constitute 

patent infringement, or have acted with willful blindness to such infringement of the D763 Patent 

despite knowledge of the same. 

65. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the D763 Patent since the date of its 

issuance through the filing of the current lawsuit but continues the infringing activities despite 

such knowledge. 

66. Upon information and belief, Defendant’s infringements of the D763 Patent have 

been in willful disregard of Plaintiff’s patent rights, making this an exceptional case, and entitling 

Plaintiff to enhanced damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, and to recovery of their attorney fees 

and costs incurred in prosecuting this action pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

67. The aforesaid infringing activity has caused damage to Plaintiff, including loss of 

profits from sales they would have made but for Defendant’s infringements.  Unless enjoined, the 
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aforesaid infringing activity will continue, causing irreparable injury to Plaintiff for which there is 

no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT THREE 
(Lanham Act Registered Trademark Infringement under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a)) 

68. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the paragraphs above as though fully set 

forth herein.  

69. Plaintiff is the owner of the valid and enforceable registered SMART SWAB® 

mark attached as Exhibit C.  Since September 2013, Plaintiff has used this mark to advertise and 

identify its own earwax removal devices to consumers. 

70. Even though Defendant is not authorized to use the SMART SWAB® mark, or any 

confusingly similar mark, Defendant has willfully infringed the SMART SWAB® mark to 

advertise and identify earwax removal devices.  This infringement is particularly damaging 

because the identical infringing SMART SWAB® mark is used in connection with identical goods 

as Plaintiff’s SMART SWAB® mark – earwax removal devices – to common customers in 

overlapping territories throughout the United States and points of sale, e.g., Walmart. 

71. Defendant’s distribution, advertisement, offering for sale, and sale of the 

Counterfeit Product constitutes a use in commerce that is likely to continue to cause confusion, to 

cause mistake, or to deceive, in violation of Section 32(1) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 

1114(1)). 

72. Defendant’s use of the Counterfeit Product commenced well after Plaintiff’s use 

and extensive worldwide advertising of its own SMART SWAB® products. 

73. Upon information and belief, the activities of the Defendant in selling the 

Counterfeit Product have been done with the express intention of confusing, misleading, and 
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deceiving purchasers and members of the public into believing they are purchasing Plaintiff’s 

products. 

74. Examples of Defendant’s willful and blatant trademark infringements are shown 

below, including Defendant’s own unauthorized use of Plaintiff’s SMART SWAB® Mark as its 

own: 
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http://www.telebrands.com/smart-swab/ (last viewed June 30, 2024). 

75. Defendant knew, or should have known, that its impermissible use of an identical 

mark would likely cause confusion, mistake and/or deception as to the affiliation, connection or 

association of Defendant’s earwax removal devices with those of Plaintiff. 

76. Defendant’s activities were committed willfully, knowingly, maliciously, and in 

conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s prior rights in the SMART SWAB® and with the willful intent 

to cause confusion and trade on Plaintiff’s goodwill. 

77. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Defendant’s conduct has caused, and, if 

not enjoined, will continue to cause immediate and irreparable damage to Plaintiff’s trademark 
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rights, business, reputation, and goodwill in a manner that cannot be adequately calculated or 

compensated in money damages alone. 

78. Due to Defendant’s violations of the Lanham Act, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive 

relief, actual, compensatory, and punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial, 

attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements. 

79. The intentional nature of this trademark infringement renders this an exceptional 

case under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a). 

80. Based on Defendant’s actions as alleged herein, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive 

relief, damages for the irreparable harm that Plaintiff has sustained, and will sustain, as a result of 

Defendant’s unlawful and infringing actions as alleged herein, and all gains, profits and advantages 

obtained by Defendant as a result thereof, enhanced discretionary damages, as well as other 

remedies provided by 15 U.S.C. §§ 1116, 1117, and 1118, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT FOUR 
(Violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act) 

81. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the paragraphs above as though fully set 

forth herein.  

82. Section 43(a)(1) of the federal Lanham Trademark Act provides: 

Any person who, on or in connection with any goods or services, or any 
container for goods, uses in commerce any word, term, name, symbol, or device, 
or any combination thereof, or any false designation of origin, false or 
misleading description of fact or false or misleading representation of fact, 
which — (A) is likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive as 
to the affiliation, connection, or association of such person with another person, 
or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of his or her goods, services, or 
commercial activities by another person, or — (B) in commercial advertising or 
promotion, misrepresents the nature, characteristics, qualities, or geographic 
origin of his or her or another person's goods services, or commercial activities, 
shall be liable in a civil action by any person who believes that he or she is or is 
likely to be damaged by such act. 15 U.S.C.A. § 1125(a). 
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83. Defendant’s distribution, advertisement, offering for sale, and sale of the 

Counterfeit Product constitutes false designations of origin, which are likely to cause confusion, 

or to cause mistake, or to deceive as to the affiliation, connection, or association of Defendant’s 

product with Plaintiff, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of Defendant’s products by 

Plaintiff, in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)).  

84. Upon information and belief, the activities of the Defendant in selling such 

Counterfeit Products have been done with the express intention of confusing, misleading, and 

deceiving purchasers and members of the public into believing they are purchasing Plaintiff’s 

products. 

85. Defendant’s actions have continued in spite of the Defendant’s knowledge that the 

use of any of Plaintiff’s trademarks, or any reproductions, counterfeits, copies, or colorable 

imitations of such trademarks, is in violation of Plaintiff’s rights. 

86. Defendant’s actions were committed willfully, knowingly, maliciously, and in 

conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s legal rights. 

87. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Defendant’s conduct has caused, and, if 

not enjoined, will continue to cause immediate and irreparable damage to Plaintiff’s trademark 

rights, business, reputation, and goodwill in a manner that cannot be adequately calculated or 

compensated in money damages alone. 

88. Due to Defendant’s violations of the Lanham Act, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive 

relief, actual, compensatory, and punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial, 

attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment against Defendant as well 

as its subsidiaries, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and all persons in active concert or 

participation with it, and grant Plaintiff the following relief: 

A. An award to Plaintiff of such damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 that are adequate 

to compensate it for Defendant’s patent infringement, in an amount equal to Plaintiff’s lost profits, 

but in no event less than a reasonable royalty; 

B. An award of prejudgment interest from the date infringement began of the ‘792 

Patent; 

C. A permanent injunction pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283 prohibiting further 

infringement of the ‘792 Patent; 

D. An award of prejudgment interest from the date infringement began of the D763 

Patent; 

E. A permanent injunction pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283 prohibiting further 

infringement of the D763 Patent; 

F. An award of treble damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 to the extent that 

Defendant’s infringements of the ‘792 Patent and D763 Patent are ultimately found to be willful; 

G. An award to Plaintiff compensating it for Defendant’s willful infringements of 

Plaintiff’s trademark. 

H. An award to Plaintiff compensating it for damages sustained as a consequence of 

Defendant’s trademark infringement, false advertising and false designation of origin and to 

account for all gains, profits, and advantages derived by Defendant’s trademark infringement and 
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that the award to Plaintiff be trebled as provided for under 15 U.S.C. § 1117; alternatively, that the 

Plaintiff be awarded statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(c)-(d). 

I. That the Court issue an order that Plaintiff recover the costs of the trademark 

infringement together with reasonable attorney and investigator fees and prejudgment interest in 

accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1117; 

J. That Defendant be permanently enjoined from directly or indirectly infringing 

Plaintiff’s SMART SWAB® mark through the impermissible use of the identical SMART 

SWAB® mark, and/or any confusingly similar mark. Any award or injunction should require that 

any past infringing advertising materials be destroyed by Defendant, and that an explanation of 

the infringement be sent by Defendant to its relevant consumers; 

K. That any infringing Defendant trademark application be cancelled and deemed 

invalid and unenforceable, as Plaintiff has prior use rights to the SMART SWAB® mark; 

L. A judgment and order that Defendant make an accounting to Plaintiff and pay over 

to Plaintiff: 

a. the extent of Defendant’s total profits and revenues realized and derived from 

its infringement of the ‘792 Patent, D763 Patent, and Plaintiff’s SMART 

SWAB® trademark, and actual damages to Plaintiff in an amount not less than 

a reasonable royalty for Defendant’s infringements; 

b. exemplary, compensatory punitive, and/or treble damages pursuant to 35 

U.S.C. § 284 for Defendant’s malicious, willful, and deliberate infringement, 

and as permitted under other applicable laws; 

M. An Order deeming this case an exceptional case pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a) 

and (b) and 35 U.S.C. § 285, and that Defendant be deemed liable for and be ordered to pay 
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Plaintiff, in addition to the aforesaid damages, Plaintiff’s costs and attorneys’ fees, and that the 

amount of actual damages be trebled; 

N. For an award of Defendant’s profits and Plaintiff’s damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1117(a), enhanced discretionary damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a) and treble damages in the 

amount of a sum equal to three (3) times such profits or damages, whichever is greater, pursuant 

to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(b) for willfully and intentionally using a mark or designation, knowing such 

mark or designation is a counterfeit mark in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a); and 

O. In the alternative to Defendant’s profits and Plaintiff’s actual damages, enhanced 

discretionary damages and treble damages for willful use of a counterfeit mark in connection with 

the sale, offering for sale or distribution of goods or services, for statutory damages pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1117(c) in the amount of not more than $2,000,000 per counterfeit mark per type of goods 

or services sold, offered for sale or distributed, as the Court considers just, which Plaintiffs may 

elect prior to the rendering of final judgment; 

P. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and necessary. 
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JURY DEMAND 

A jury trial is hereby demanded for all issues that are triable to a jury. 

Dated: September 6, 2024 
NORRIS McLAUGHLIN, PA 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

By:   /s/Nicholas A. Duston                          
Nicholas A. Duston, Esq. 
400 Crossing Blvd. 8th Fl. 
Bridgewater, NJ  08807 
(908) 722-0700 

Joseph A. Farco, Esq. (pro hac vice to be filed) 
7 Times Square, 21st Floor 
New York, NY 10036 
(917) 369-8865 
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LOCAL CIV. R. 11.2 CERTIFICATION 

I certify that to the best of my present knowledge, the matter in controversy is not the 

subject of any other action pending in any court, or of any pending arbitration or administrative 

proceeding. 

Dated: September 6, 2024 
   /s/Nicholas A. Duston 

Nicholas A. Duston, Esq. 
NORRIS McLAUGHLIN, PA 
400 Crossing Blvd. 8th Fl. 
Bridgewater, NJ  08807 
(908) 722-0700 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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SYSTEM AND METHOD FOR REMOVAL OF FIG . 15 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle . 
EARWAX AND PARTICULATES FIG . 16 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 

FIG . 17 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 
BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION and tip . 

FIG . 18 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
The ear canal in human produce cerumen , also known as FIG . 19 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle . 

" earwax ” , in outer part of the ear canal . The use of audio and FIG . 20 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 
mobile device's ear buds , hearing aid buds , or sound pro and tip . 
tector ear plugs can push the earwax deeper into the ear FIG . 21 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
canal , in which case it can cause many complications , such 10 FIG . 22A is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
as reduction of hearing , due to earwax plague in the ear FIG . 22B is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . canal . Cerumen Impaction ( Earwax Buildup and Blockage ) FIG . 22C is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . is a major problem for many people . Regular Q - tip or cotton FIG . 23 is for one embodiment , as an example for tip . swab usually push the earwax further in , blocking and FIG . 24 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . possibly damaging the ear . FIG . 25 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . This invention solves this problem , by using a system to FIG . 26 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . remove ear wax properly . However , the invention and FIG . 27 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle embodiments described here , below , have not been and tip . addressed or presented in any prior art . For example , some 
other patents are : D545431 by N. Khademhosseini , PN 20 FIG . 28 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 

and tip . 8,777,972 by Steven Burres ( Device and method for remov 
ing earwax ) , 6,695,802 ( Ear cleaner device ) , 5,982,908 ( Ear FIG . 29 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 
wax collection device for a hearing aid ) , and 5,107,861 ( Safe and tip 
ear clean button and protection with attachment device ) . FIG . 30A is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 

FIG . 30B is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION FIG . 30C is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 

FIG . 30D is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
In one embodiment , we describe a method and a device FIG . 30E is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 

for cleaning the ear canal of cerumen contaminants , dust , FIG . 30F is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
and particulates . That includes a handle and replaceable tips , 30 FIG . 30G is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
a combination of a flared design and solid base plate FIG . 31A is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
attached to the bottom of the tips , limiting the excessive FIG . 31B is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
insertion of the tip into the deep area of ear canal that could FIG . 31C is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
contact eardrum , which can seriously damage the eardrum FIG . 31D is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 
and hearing capabilities . FIG . 31E is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . 

The handle has a slot in the front in which a tip can snap FIG . 32A is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
into , and as the whole system is secured together , the user handle . 
can operate the system by spinning the handle , using fingers , FIG . 32B is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
in a clockwise direction , as the user proceeds to insert the tip handle . 
in the ear canal . The handle also can be made , as a new 40 FIG . 32C is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
design for syringe , to hold and dispense liquid that may handle . 
facilitate the ear cleansing in different type of ear with FIG . 32D is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
different earwax condition . handle . 

FIG . 32E is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS 45 handle . 

FIG . 33 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 
FIG . 1 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . and tip . 
FIG . 2 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle FIG . 34 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 

and tip . and tip , with stopper . 
FIG . 3 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 50 FIG . 35 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 

with extra grip place . 
FIG . 4 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle FIG . 36 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 

and tip . with syringe function . 
FIG . 5 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . FIG . 37 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 
FIG . 6 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip and 55 with elastic bulb for suction . 

handle . FIG . 38 is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
FIG . 7 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle . core / base and tip . 
FIG . 8 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle . FIG . 39 is for one embodiment , as an example , for base 
FIG . 9 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip with holes . 
FIG . 10 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip . FIG . 40 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tongue 
FIG . 11 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle and groove to lock the tip into the body , as one piece . 

and liquid bulb . FIG . 41 is for one embodiment , as an example , for screw 
FIG . 12 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle action inside the tip , to lock into the body . 

and tip . FIG . 42 is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
FIG . 13 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle . 65 multiple containers ( 2 or more ) inside body or handle . 
FIG . 14 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle FIG . 43 is for one embodiment , as an example , for long 

and tip . tip with stopper . 

35 

and tip . 

60 
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FIG . 44 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip with discourages the excessive penetration of the tip into the ear 
holes . canal which results in safeguarding ear drum from acciden 
FIG . 45 is for one embodiment , as an example , for tip with tal perforation . 

the end acting as spoon or scoop , with curved wide area or FIG . 1 shows a . 3 - D view of the tip 102 , for one 
surface . 5 embodiment . FIG . 2 shows a 3 - D view of the tip 102 and 

handle 106 , together , as one piece , for one embodiment . 
DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE FIG . 3 shows a 3 - D view of the tip 106 and handle 104 , 
PREFERRED EMBODIMENTS separated , as 2 pieces , for one embodiment . FIG . 4 shows a 

3 - D view of the tip 108 and handle 110 , together , as one 
The invention enables a user to perform a proper ear piece , attached , for one embodiment . FIG . 5 shows a 3 - D 

cleaning at home and without the need of visiting a doctor view of the tip 112 , for one embodiment . FIG . 6 shows a 3 - D 
for ear cleaning . One embodiment features a flared design , view of the tip 114 , attached to a handle 116 , for one 
combined with solid plate at the tip base , limiting penetra embodiment . FIG . 7 shows a 3 - D view of the connection 
tion into ear canal , therefore , preventing it from reaching to mechanism 118 between tip and handle , for one embodi 
eardrum , to prevent injury . ment . 
One embodiment features : FIGS . 30A to 30G show 3 - D views of the tip 302 , from 
Soft spirally finned tip that excavate and exfoliate earwax various angles and cross sections , with dimensions for a 

and articulates outward , and prevent pushing it further . typical example , for one embodiment . FIGS . 31A to 31E 
A handle locking system , specifically designed to : 20 show 3 - D views of the core 304 and connection mechanism 
i . snap into the back of the tip , to work as a system for 306 , from various angles and cross sections , with dimen 

spinning the spiral tip . sions for a typical example , for one embodiment . FIGS . 32A 
ii . It comprises of locking tabs that can be pushed forward to 32E show 3 - D views of the handle 308 , from various 
by the user ( after use ) to snap off the tip , to facilitate angles and cross sections , with dimensions for a typical 
disposal of the used tip , without the need of touching 25 example , for one embodiment . 
them , for cleanliness and better hygiene . FIG . 8 shows a view of the body 120 with container in the 

iii . Handle adapted to be grabbed by hand , and it can be middle , for one embodiment . FIG . 9 shows a view of the tip 
made in two different categories for two separate 122 , for one embodiment . FIG . 10 shows a view of the tip 
methods of use : 122 with matching ending 124 , with holes , for one embodi 
1. a solid piece , just as handle . 30 ment . FIG . 11 shows a view of the solid handle 126 with 
2. a hollow handle that comprises of a syringe system liquid bulb 128 , with holes , for suction of liquid , for one 

to load , store , dispense , or spray a liquid into the ear embodiment , for cleaning , rinsing , flushing , soaking , dis 
canal , either solving , medicating , drug - delivery , coating , or drying ( the 

ear or the wax or the dirt ) . The soft plastic or elastic bulb or before installing a tip to handle , or with open cell tip 
on it ( opening in the foam , to allow liquid through 35 rubber can be pushed in by fingers , and then get back to the 

original spherical shape by itself , to suck the air or liquid or the tip , around the ear canal ) . In this case , there fluid from the ear or container or bottle or jar , for any or all will be an opening within the core piece that the purposes mentioned above . connects the tip to the handle to direct the liquid FIG . 12 shows a bulb 130 at the end of the handle 132 , 
from handle to the tip . 40 doing the same function as described above , with container 

Please refer to the 3D CAD design files in FIGS . 1 to 45 within or hollow body , to have the liquid or fluid in , for 
for some embodiments and variations , with details . storage and later usage , in the long handle , with tip 134 
One embodiment is a handle which comprises of a syringe narrowing down , with holes near the tip of the handle 132 , 

system . The end of the handle is connected to the short which will match and inserted into an open cell foam tip 134 
piston ( about half size of the handle’s length ) , which can 45 or other tips ( e.g. , replaceable or exchangeable or temporary 
unlock from the body of the handle by a twist , so it can be or disposable or permanent tip , with different materials or 
free to be pulled back and out , which results to vacuuming properties ) , as shown in the figure , for one embodiment . 
function that pulls liquid in . FIG . 13 shows a view of the body , with handle 136 , for 
One embodiment is a tip that comprises of an opening in one embodiment . One end is circular flat for holding fingers 

the middle of the bottom of the tip core piece , which directs 50 or as marker , and the other end is for engaging and attaching 
liquid from handle to the tip . to the tip . 
One embodiment is a core locking piece with opening that FIG . 14 shows a view of the body , with handle 136 , with 

allows liquid inside the handle to be sprayed in different spiral tip 138 attached on one end , for one embodiment . FIG . 
angles inside the ear canal , before a tip is added to the 15 shows a view of the body , with handle 140 , at one end , 
system . In this method , consumer sprays wash inside ear 55 for one embodiment . FIG . 16 shows a view of the tip , with 
directly with the liquid . After softening some hard earwax , spiral tip 142 , with attaching or engaging end , for one 
one applies the tip on top of the sprayer to swab inside the embodiment . FIG . 17 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip 
ear canal and also to get the moist out . 144 , attached to a body 146 , for one embodiment . 
One embodiment is a handle that comprises of a squeez FIG . 18 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip 150 , 

able syringe bulb at the front flared part of the handle . 60 attached to a body 152 , for one embodiment , shown as a 
One embodiment is a handle , comprising of a squeezable cross section , cut in half , along the length . FIG . 19 shows a 

syringe bulb at the end of the handle which helps the handle view of the body 154 , at one end , for attachment to a tip , 
to work like a dripper . After spray wash inside ear , a tip can with gaps or slits or cuts or openings , to engage the tip and 
be snapped on the front of the handle , in order to spin the attach to the tip , for one embodiment . 
spiral tip for cleaning and getting the moistout . FIG . 20 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip 156 , 

Please note the importance of the flared design of the tip attached to a body 158 , for one embodiment . FIG . 21 shows 
and the round plate at bottom ( works as a stopper ) , that a view of the tip , with spiral tip 160 , for one embodiment . 
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FIGS . 22A , 22B , and 22C show views of the tip , with we have syringe operation with handle for holding the 
spiral tip 162 , for one embodiment , with 3D views and a liquid , to load and unload . For one embodiment , we have 
cross section from half / middle , for one - fin spiral configu piston to load and unload liquid . 
ration . FIG . 23 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip 164 , For one embodiment , we have cap like grooves to rotate 
for one embodiment , with 3D view , for one - fin spiral con 5 the tip into the body similar to the screw action , to lock that 
figuration . FIG . 24 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip in , to attach to the body or handle . For one embodiment , we 
166 , for one embodiment , with 3D view , for one - fin spiral have syringe action to suck the liquid and store and then 
configuration . push the piston to eject the liquid for use . For one embodi 
FIG . 25 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip 168 , for ment , we have core piece attached to the tip , with holes in 

one embodiment , with 3D view , for two - fin spiral configu- 10 the core piece , for different positions and directions , dis 
ration . FIG . 26 shows a view of the tip , with spiral tip 170 , pensing liquid into the ear . 
for one embodiment , with 3D view , for three - fin spiral For one embodiment , we have syringe bulb as elastic 
configuration . sphere for use of liquid and storage into the container within 
FIG . 27 shows a view of the 2 tips at 2 ends of a handle body . For one embodiment , we have 2 holes on core piece 

or body 174 , with spiral tips 174 , 176 , for one embodiment , 15 at one end to engage with the tip . For one embodiment , we 
with 3D view . FIG . 28 shows a view of the spiral tip 178 , for have variations on holes ( number and shapes and patterns ) 
one embodiment , with 3D view . FIG . 29 shows a view of the on core piece . For one embodiment , we have syringe bulb 
2 tips at 2 ends of a handle or body 180 , with spiral tips 182 , for suction action and function at the end of the handle , 
184 , for one embodiment , with 3D view . similar to eye dripper device . For one embodiment , we have 
As shown above , we can have N - fin spiral configuration , 20 one piece tab or tongue to go into groove or opening for 

but after or above N = 3 , it may not be any more efficient in better locking purpose and longevity of the tab or tongue . 
action as the lower number fin situations on the spiral tip , for For one embodiment , we have elastic or flexible material for 
the removal of ear wax . So , for most cases , in one embodi tip to have a soft tip for better operation . 
ment , we use 2 - fin and 3 - fin configurations . One - fin models For one embodiment , we have container for liquid as 
are very simple in design and still do the job very well . 25 glass , metal , plastic , wood , fiber , or the like . For one 
As shown above , in figures , for one embodiment , we have embodiment , we have o - ring or copper ring or plastic ring or 

rib shape or tubs or multiple pins or array of small bars or elastic ring or band or the like , to avoid leaking from the 
brush shape or comb shape , for the tip and / or body , to lock container or syringe sides or cylinder sides , inside the handle 
into each other , with slit or opening on the other side to or body , for proper operation . 
engage the other side , to lock in and attach with each other , 30 FIG . 33 is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 
as one unit . The locking is done by pushing these two parts 402 and tip 404. FIG . 34 is for one embodiment , as an 
toward each other , to snap into a locked position . To release , example , for handle 402 and tip 404 , with stopper 403. FIG . 
the fingers push on the locked parts , to push in , and pull apart 35 is for one embod nent , as an example , for handle 402 
the parts simultaneously , to get the parts separated from each with extra grip place 405. FIG . 36 is for one embodiment , as 
other . So , we can do the snap off by fingers , to separate them 35 an example , for handle 406 with syringe function . FIG . 37 
( tip separated from the body ) . is for one embodiment , as an example , for handle 408 with 

For one embodiment , we have touch free tip replacement , elastic bulb 409 for suction . 
with clean tip or sterilized tip , without touching with fingers FIG . 38 is for one embodiment , as an example , for 
to avoid contamination the tip . For one embodiment , we core / base 412 and tip 410. FIG . 39 is for one embodiment , 
have locking system for the tip and body . For one embodi- 40 as an example , for base 414 with holes 415. FIG . 40 is for 
ment , we can have any material for the body or handle , e.g. , one embodiment , as an example , for tongue and groove to 
metal , alloy , plastic , rubber , elastic , wood , polymer , glass , or lock the tip 416 into the body 418 , as one piece . FIG . 41 is 
the like . For one embodiment , we have bowl shaped or for one embodiment , as an example , for screw action inside 
spoon shaped tip for scooping the ear wax easier and more the tip 420 , to lock into the body . FIG . 42 is for one 
efficiently , and avoid sharp edges on tip in the ear canal for 45 embodiment , as an example , for multiple containers ( 2 or 
possible injury . more ) inside body or handle 422 . 

For one embodiment , we have tip made of open cell foam , FIG . 43 is for one embodiment , as an example , for long 
moist absorbent , regular foam , sponge , cotton , clothing , soft tip 424 with stopper 426. FIG . 44 is for one embodiment , as 
tissue , towel , Q - tip material , wool , silk , nylon , acrylic , an example , for tip 428 with holes . FIG . 45 is for one 
petroleum based material , synthetic material , porous mate- 50 embodiment , as an example , for tip 430 with the end acting 
rial for absorbing moisture and liquid , dry fabric , filter as spoon or scoop , with curved wide area or surface . 
material , coarse material , bumpy surface material , or the Any variations of the above teaching are also intended to 
like . be covered by this patent application . 

For one embodiment , we have container or box or enclo The invention claimed is : 
sure or tube or filler or space or storage or liquid holder for 55 1. An ear cleaning apparatus comprising : 
liquid or fluid for cleaning ear , e.g. , wash , anti - bacteria , a spiral - shaped head ; 
dissolve wax , soften wax , rinse , dry , or the like , through for a locking mechanism coupled to the spiral - shaped head , 
example , the tip or holes or syringe shape or the like . For one the locking mechanism including a center protrusion 
embodiment , we have disposable tip . For one embodiment , and a pair of longitudinally extending locking tabs ; and 
we have the pressure from the back side , instead of the 60 a handle including a receiving portion configured to 
handle , to remove the tip . receive the locking mechanism to releasably couple the 

For one embodiment , we have liquid stored in the end of spiral - shaped head to the handle , 
the body or the whole body . For one embodiment , we have wherein the center protrusion includes a plurality of ribs . 
pushing mechanism to push the liquid out to clean the ear . 2. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 
For one embodiment , we have spoon or scoop shape at the 65 spiral - shaped head includes a soft material . 
head of the tip , to better take out the wax , or use a 3. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 
wide - curved surface for that purpose . For one embodiment , spiral - shaped head includes a foam material . 
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4. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 13. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 10 , wherein the 
spiral - shaped head includes a plastic material . spiral - shaped head includes a tapered shape , and the tapered 

5. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the shape acts as the stopper . 
spiral - shaped head is porous . 14. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 

6. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 5 handle includes at least one container for liquid . 
locking mechanism is configured such that the spiral - shaped 15. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 
head is removable from the receiving portion via a pressure head includes at least one container for liquid . 

16. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the ear applied to one of the pair of locking tabs . cleaning apparatus includes a syringe . 
7. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 17. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the 

spiral - shaped head and locking mechanism are configured to spiral - shaped head includes a spoon - shaped feature disposed 
be removably coupled and decoupled from the handle with at a distal end of the spiral - shaped head . 
out touching the spiral - shaped head . 18. An ear cleaning apparatus comprising : 

8. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the a spiral - shaped head ; 
spiral - shaped head is disposable . a locking mechanism coupled to the spiral - shaped head , 

9. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the the locking mechanism including a center protrusion 
and a pair of longitudinally extending locking tabs ; and locking mechanism is disposable . a handle including a receiving portion configured to 

10. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 1 , wherein the ear receive the locking mechanism to releasably couple the 
cleaning apparatus includes a stopper configured to prevent spiral - shaped head to the handle , 
excessive insertion of the ear cleaning apparatus into an ear 20 wherein the spiral - shaped head includes a spoon - shaped 
canal . feature disposed at a distal end of the spiral - shaped 

11. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 10 , wherein the head . 
handle includes the stopper . 19. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 18 , wherein the 

12. The ear cleaning apparatus of claim 10 , wherein the center protrusion includes a plurality of ribs . 
stopper is adjustable . 

15 

* 
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